SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-364

ROBERT AND TAMMY BENNETT, individually and as parents and natural guardians of TRISTAN BENNETT, a minor,

Petitioners,

v.

L.T. No. 1D07-5557 L.T. No. 1D07-5561

ST. VINCENT'S MEDICAL CENTER, INC., WILLIAM H. LONG, M.D., and NORTH FLORIDA OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY, P.A.,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

CREED & GOWDY, P.A. Rebecca Bowen Creed Florida Bar No. 0975109 865 May Street Jacksonville, Florida 32204 (904) 350-0075 (904) 350-0086 facsimile rcreed@appellate-firm.com

Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before the Court to resolve questions of express and direct conflict between the First District Court of Appeal's decision and the decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal. The questions of law concern the First District's interpretation of the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Plan (the "Plan"), sections 766.301 through 766.316, Florida Statutes (2001). Petitioners/Appellees, Robert and Tammy Bennett, individually and as parents and guardians of Tristan Bennett, a minor (the "Parents"), ask this Court to reject the First District's interpretation of the statutory provisions of the Plan governing the compensability of a "birth-related neurological injury."

Facts and Procedural Background

On the morning of September 26, 2001, Petitioner Tammy Bennett ("Mrs. Bennett") was in an automobile accident near Macclenny, Florida. (Opinion, A-2, at 2.) Mrs. Bennett was more than thirty-eight weeks pregnant. (A-1, at 5.) She was transported to a nearby hospital. (A-1, at 6.) She remained there for approximately two hours, and was then transported by helicopter to St. Vincent's Hospital in Jacksonville. (A-1, at 8.) That same day, after declining into kidney failure, Mrs. Bennett underwent a caesarean section. (A-2, at 2.) Petitioners' infant, Tristan Bennett, was delivered by Dr. Long at 1:22 p.m. on September 26, 2001. (A-1, at 13.) Evidence of a partial placental abruption was noted. (*Id.*)

Although Tristan required manual resuscitation after delivery, she responded rapidly, and her Apgar scores at birth and within minutes of birth were in the normal range. (A-2, at 2-3.)¹ After delivery, she was admitted to the newborn nursery. (A-1, at 14.) She was referred to the special care nursery for additional management, due to respiratory distress and metabolic acidosis. (*Id.*)

At 2:10 p.m. on September 26, 2001, Tristan was admitted to the special care nursery. (*Id.*) After treatment, "her respiratory distress and metabolic acidosis resolved fairly quickly; and by 9:30 p.m., her respiration was noted as unlabored, skin remained pale/pink, and she was sleeping quietly." (*Id.*)

Tristan did suffer from renal distress and liver damage after delivery. (A-2, at 3.) Yet her neurologic exams during the first seven days of life were normal. (A-2, at 2-3, 5; *see also* Exh. 9 (cited at A-1, at 15-16).) Her hospital medical records described her as "alert" and "active," with "[n]euro grossly intact" and no evidence of any central nervous system disfunction or neurological abnormalities noted. (Exh. 9 (cited at A-1, at 15-16).)

On October 3, 2001, while in the special care nursery, Tristan experienced pulmonary bleeding and pulmonary arrest. (A-2, at 3.) She was intubated, placed on a ventilator, and given CPR. (A-1, at 16-17.) She remained "critically unstable

¹ An Apgar score is "a numerical expression of the condition of the newborn at birth and at short intervals thereafter and reflects the sum total points gained on an assessment of the heart rate, respiratory effort, muscle tone, reflex irritability and color." (A-2, at 3, n.3.)

throughout the rest of the day and evening of October 3, 2001." (A-1, at 18.) Late that evening, the medical records reflected the likely onset of seizure activity and "neurologic abnormalities." (*Id.*) Only then was she examined by a pediatric neurologist. (A-2, at 3.) She has since been diagnosed with cerebral palsy. (A-2, at 3, 5-6.)

The Parents, individually and on Tristan's behalf, sued St. Vincent's Medical Center, Inc., William H. Long, M.D., and North Florida Obstetrics and Gynecology, P.A. (referred to collectively as the "Health Care Providers"). The circuit court proceedings were abated, pending an administrative determination as to whether the infant's injuries were compensable under the Plan. (A-2, at 3.)

Proceedings Before the ALJ

The Parents filed a petition with the Division of Administrative Hearings (DOAH) to determine compensation under the Plan. (A-2, at 3.) In the petition, the Parents described the infant's condition at birth, stating:

By the time of her birth by cesearean section, Tristan Bennett had suffered a hypoxic ischemic event that caused permanent brain damage. Tristan Bennett then suffered further injury to her brain during the first several days of life, well after the immediate post-delivery resuscitative period.

(A-2, at 4.)

The Parents asserted that although the infant sustained a brain injury caused by oxygen deprivation by the time of her birth, this injury only rendered her physically impaired. (A-2, at 5, 8-9.) Only after the events of October 3 did the infant suffer permanent and substantial *mental* (or "neurologic") impairment. (A-2, at 3, 4-5, 8-9.)

The Parents did not seek benefits under the Plan. (A-2, at 9.) While the Parents stipulated that currently Tristan is permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired, they asserted that her current condition "occurred outside of labor, delivery, and immediate post-delivery resuscitation, and as such does not constitute a 'birth-related neurological injury." (R-835.) Further, the Parents stipulated that

while Tristan suffered from multi-organ system failure due to that oxygen deprivation/asphyxia, which manifested in renal failure, hepatic injury, respiratory complications, and hematologic complications, [the child's medical records from St. Vincent's Medical Center] state Tristan did not have permanent and substantial neurological impairment . . . until suffering from severe hyponatremia, pulmonary arrest, hours of resuscitation, and profound metabolic acidosis on October 3, 2001.

(A-2, at 8-9.)

In contrast, the Health Care Providers asked the ALJ to determine the infant's injuries compensable under the Plan. (A-2, at 4-5.) A finding of compensability allows the Health Care Providers to invoke the Plan's exclusive remedies. The Health Care Providers asked the ALJ to apply the presumption of

compensability for a "birth-related neurological injury" under section 766.309(1)(a), Florida Statutes.

At the administrative hearing, extensive medical records were introduced. The question as to the timing of Tristan's neurological injury was a matter of dispute. (A-2, at 3, 4.) The ALJ clearly understood that he was to determine whether the infant suffered an injury to her brain from oxygen deprivation in the course of labor, delivery, or resuscitation in the immediate postdelivery period, which rendered her both physically and mentally impaired. (A-1, at 21, 25; T-4-5.)

The ALJ ruled for the Parents. (A-1, at 23-27.) The ALJ refused to apply the presumption of compensability for the benefit of the Health Care Providers, ruling instead that the presumption arises only for the benefit of claimants like the Parents. (A-2, at 5.)

The ALJ found that the record compelled the conclusion that the infant's neurologic impairment resulted from a brain injury caused by oxygen deprivation that occurred on October 3 – "and not during labor, delivery, or resuscitation in the immediate postdelivery period in the hospital." (A-1, at 27.) The "multi-system failure" suffered by Tristan as a result of oxygen deprivation during and immediately after delivery did not result in a brain injury or substantial neurologic impairment. (A-1, at 26; *see also* A-1, at 15 (finding that notwithstanding evidence of a hypoxic ischemic insult (oxygen deprivation) before, during and

likely after delivery, Tristan's medical records in the days thereafter "repeatedly document the absence of neurologic impairment or neurological damage").) The ALJ instead ruled that

it is unlikely Tristan suffered a brain injury or substantial neurologic impairment until *after* she experienced profound episodes of oxygen deprivation on October 3, 2001, following the onset of pulmonary hemorrhaging and pulmonary arrest.

(*Id.* (emphasis added).) In support of his findings, the ALJ cited the undisputed record evidence showing that

Tristan was delivered atraumatically, she responded rapidly to resuscitation immediately after delivery, her neurologic examinations during the first seven days of life were normal, she suffered prolonged and severe decreases in fetal heart rate and saturations on October 3, 2001, . . . and she evidenced seizure activity and neurologic decline thereafter.

(A-1, at 27.)

The ALJ concluded that the proof established, more likely than not, that "Tristan's profound neurologic impairments resulted from a brain injury caused by oxygen deprivation that occurred October 3, 2001, and not during labor, delivery, or resuscitation in the immediate postdelivery period in the hospital." (*Id.*) Because the infant did not suffer a "birth-related neurological injury," the ALJ ruled that claim was not compensable under the Plan. (*Id.*)

Proceedings Before the First District Court of Appeal

The Health Care Providers appealed the Final Order. On appeal, the First District reversed, ruling that the ALJ erred as a matter of law in not applying the presumption of compensability. (A-2, at 9.) Emphasizing that its ultimate goal in construing a statute is to give effect to legislative intent, the court ruled that the presumption of compensability "arises upon the presentation of evidence demonstrating the required injury," without regard to whether the *claimant* demonstrated the requisite elements. The First District refused to allow claimants to waive the presumption. This, the court found, best served the Legislature's intent to "reduce malpractice claims brought under traditional tort law." (*Id.* at 12-13.)

Judge Kahn dissented, and relied instead on the Plan's express language. (A-2, at 14-16.) Finding that the rebuttable presumption was adopted by the Legislature to aid claimants in seeking benefits, Judge Kahn disagreed with the majority's decision authorizing the Health Care Providers to invoke the presumption. (*Id.* at 14-16.)

The First District further interpreted the Plan to find that "neither section 766.302(2) nor section 766.309(1)(a) requires that neurological damage be manifest during 'labor, delivery, or resuscitation in the immediate postdelivery period." (*Id.* at 10.) According to the court, only "oxygen deprivation or

mechanical injury" must occur during "labor, delivery, or resuscitation in the immediate postdelivery period." (*Id.*) Alternatively, even if the statutory scheme requires manifestation of neurological damage during labor, delivery, and the postdelivery period, the First District concluded that the infant's injuries were compensable. The court found that the "immediate postdelivery period in a hospital" may include "an extended period of days when a baby is delivered with a life-threatening condition and requires close supervision." (*Id.* at 11.)

The Parents timely filed a motion for rehearing, rehearing en banc, clarification, and certification. On February 4, 2010, the First District granted only the request for clarification, ruling that the ALJ must find the Parents' claim compensable under the Plan. (A-3.) Judge Kahn dissented from the majority's decision to deny certification, noting that he would certify a question of great public importance. The Parents timely filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with the First District on March 1, 2010.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District's Opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal in interpreting the statutory provisions of the Plan related to a "birth-related neurological injury." Contrary to the First District's ruling, the ALJ correctly interpreted the plain and unambiguous language of the Plan in determining that Tristan did not suffer a compensable "birth-related neurological injury" under the Plan. For the reasons set forth below, the First District's Opinion must be quashed, and the ALJ's Final Order affirmed.

First, the First District erred in ruling that the statutory presumption of a "birth-related neurological injury" under section 766.309(1)(a), Florida Statutes, benefits health-care providers and claimants alike. The First District emphasizes legislative intent to the detriment of the statute's plain and unambiguous language, contrary to the decisions of this Court in *Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association v. Department of Administrative Hearings*, 29 So. 3d 992 (Fla. 2010), and the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Nagy v. Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Association*, 813 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). The First District's construction of the statutory presumption contradicts the plain language of the statute, and the Legislature's intent.

Even if the statutory presumption arises here, the presumption does not conclusively establish the compensability of a claim under the Plan. In instructing

the ALJ to find the Parents' claim compensable on remand, the First District impermissibly reweighs the evidence. The ALJ has already determined that, even if the statutory presumption arose for the benefit of the Health Care Providers, the Parents adequately rebutted that presumption. Competent, substantial evidence supports the ALJ's finding that Tristan's injury was not compensable as a "birth-related neurological injury."

Next, in finding that the question of when an infant suffers a neurological injury is irrelevant, the First District renders an opinion that expressly and directly conflicts with the Fourth District's decision in Nagy. Nagy did not limit the question of compensability to the occurrence of oxygen deprivation or mechanical injury alone. Instead, consistent with the definition of "birth-related neurological injury," the Fourth District ruled that both the oxygen deprivation and the injury to the brain must occur during labor, delivery, or the immediate post-delivery resuscitative period. The timing of the injury to the brain (or "neurological damage") that results in permanent and substantial mental and physical impairment is relevant. The applicable statutes – which must be narrowly construed and strictly applied - only compensate a claimant for a "birth-related neurological injury" that occurs during the course of labor, delivery, or immediate post-delivery resuscitation. Neurological damage that "manifests" after the relevant statutory time period is not covered under the Plan.

Finally, the First District's interpretation of a "birth-related neurological injury" expressly and directly conflicts with the Fifth District's interpretation of the same statutory definition in *Orlando Regional Healthcare System, Inc. v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological*, 997 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008). The plain language of the statutory definition of a "birth-related neurological injury," as interpreted by the Fifth District in *Orlando Regional Healthcare*, illustrates the First District's error. To construe the seven days between September 26 (when Tristan was delivered) and October 3 (when she suffered a pulmonary arrest) as "resuscitation in the immediate postdelivery period" defies the plain and ordinary meaning of "resuscitation" and "immediate," and the facts of this case. *See Orlando Regional Healthcare*, 997 So. 2d at 431, 432.

For all these reasons, the Parents ask this Court to quash the Opinion of the First District, and affirm the ALJ's Final Order. Because the Parents' infant did not suffer a "birth-related neurological injury," within the meaning of the relevant statutory provisions, her claim is not compensable under the Plan.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

The standard of review of an ALJ's interpretation of the Plan is *de novo*. *Nagy v. Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n*, 813 So. 2d 155, 159 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). The ALJ's findings of fact related to compensability of a claim under the Plan are conclusive and binding. § 766.311(1), Fla. Stat. An ALJ's findings of fact are reversible on appeal only when they are not supported by competent substantial evidence in the record. *See Nagy*, 813 So. 2d at 159; § 120.68(7) & (10), Fla. Stat.

- I. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTORY PRESUMPTION OF A "BIRTH-RELATED NEUROLOGICAL INJURY" CONFLICTS WITH ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.
 - A. The First District disregards the plain language of the statutory presumption in a misguided effort to "give effect to legislative intent."

The Plan is a statutory substitute for the Parents' common law rights and liabilities. See Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n v. Fla. Div. of Admin. Hearings, 686 So. 2d 1349, 1354 (Fla. 1997). Because the Plan is in derogation of the common law, it must be strictly construed and narrowly applied. Nagy v. Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n, 813 So. 2d 155, 159 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); accord Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n, 686 So. 2d at 1354. Statutory interpretation of the Plan begins with its plain

language. Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Admin. Hearings, 29 So. 3d 992, 997 (Fla. 2010) (hereinafter referred to as "Bayfront").

The plain language of the Plan's statutory presumption provides:

If the claimant has demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the administrative law judge, that the infant has sustained a brain or spinal cord injury caused by oxygen deprivation or mechanical injury and that the infant was thereby rendered permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired, a rebuttable presumption shall arise that the injury is a birth-related neurological injury as defined in s. 766.302(2).

§ 766.309(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001) (emphasis added). The First District does not address the Legislature's use of the conditional clause, "[i]f the claimant has demonstrated," to determine when the presumption arises. Instead, the First District finds that "the presumption arises upon the presentation of evidence demonstrating the required injury." (A-2, at 12.)

The First District disregards the plain language of the statute, instead interpreting the statutory presumption to serve the Legislature's presumed intent. The "ultimate goal in construing [this] statutory provision," according to the First District, is "to give effect to legislative intent." (*Id.* at 12-13.) The court concludes:

Applying the presumption of compensability in this case best serves the Legislature's intent. On the other hand, dispensing with the presumption at the request of a claimant would undermine that intent. (*Id*.)

The First District's ruling expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Bayfront*, and the Fourth District's decision in *Nagy*. When, as here, the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, the "ultimate goal" is not – as the First District finds – "to give effect to legislative intent." Rather, the ultimate goal is to strictly construe the statute's clear language and give the statute its plain and obvious meaning. *See Bayfront*, 29 So. 3d at 997-98; *Nagy*, 813 So. 2d at 159-60 & n.4; *accord Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n*, 686 So. 2d at 1354. "[E]ven where a court is convinced that the legislature really meant and intended something not expressed in the phraseology of the [statute], it will not deem itself authorized to depart from the plain meaning of the language which is free from ambiguity." *Bayfront*, 29 So. 3d at 997-98 (citations omitted).

This Court's ruling in *BellSouth Telecommunications* does not establish a contrary rule of statutory construction, as the First District suggests. (A-2, at 13 (citing *Bellsouth Telecomms., Inc. v. Meeks*, 863 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 2003)). The Court does find in *BellSouth Telecommunications* that its purpose in construing a statute "is to give effect to the Legislature's intent." 863 So. 2d at 289. Yet the Court further emphasizes that in "attempting to discern legislative intent," courts must "first look to the actual language used in the statute." *Id.* Only if the

language of a statute is unclear may a court "apply rules of statutory construction and explore legislative history to determine legislative intent." *Id*.

Nowhere in its decision does the First District find the language of the statutory presumption ambiguous. The court had no reason, then, to disregard the actual language of the statute. Rather than interpret the statute to "best serve[] the Legislature's intent," the First District should have first looked to the statute's plain language.

B. The plain language of the statutory presumption, together with the statute's legislative history, intent, and the purpose of the Plan, establishes that the First District erred in interpreting section 766.309(1)(a).

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