IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT AND TAMMY BENNETT, Individually and as parents and natural guardians of TRISTAN BENNETT, a minor

Petitioners, CASE NO.: SC10-364

L.C. Nos.: 1D07-5557

WILLIAM H. LONG, M.D., NORTH FLORIDA 1D07-5561 OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY, P.A., and ST. VINCENT'S MEDICAL CENTER, INC.,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS WILLIAM H. LONG, M.D., AND NORTH FLORIDA OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY, P.A.

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

William T. Jackson
William Peter Martin
Dennis, Jackson, Martin & Fontela, P.A.
1591 Summit Lake Drive, Suite 200
Tallahassee, FL 32317
(850) 422-3345
(850) 422-1325 fax
FL BAR ID#0928021

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District's holding, regarding the application of the presumption of compensability of section 766.309(1)(a), was not error and is not in conflict with any principle of statutory construction or with any other decision of another District Court of Appeal. The First District followed the plain language of section 766.309(1)(a), and correctly held that the presumption of compensability should have been applied by the ALJ in light of the parties' stipulations and the ALJ's findings.

In arguing that the First District "disregarded" the plain language of the presumption statute, the Bennetts "disregard" the fact that they stipulated that Tristan suffered an injury to the brain caused by oxygen deprivation that rendered her permanently and substantially, mentally and physically impaired. The ALJ then accepted the parties' stipulation, finding that it was "undisputed that Tristan suffered brain injury, caused by oxygen deprivation, which rendered her permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired." Accordingly, the Bennetts, as claimants, plainly demonstrated to the ALJ that the prerequisites of section 766.309(1)(a), were met and the presumption of compensability should have been applied.

There is no conflict between the First District's opinion and other district courts "on the same question of law," because the First District accounted for the legislative intent of the NICA Plan when reading the plain language of the NICA statutes. Florida law is well-settled that when interpreting and construing statutes, courts are guided by the plain language of the statute along with a consideration of the legislature's expressed intent.

If one reads the plain language of the statute in question, as the parties urge this Court to do, it is clear that section 766.309(1)(a), applies the presumption irrespective of the parties. The presumption does not favor one party over another, it favors compensability of the injury. Once the required is demonstration is made, as it was in this case, a rebuttable presumption that the "injury is a birth-related neurological injury" shall arise.

With a proper application of section 766.309(1)(a), the presumption that Tristan's injury was a birth-related neurological injury under section 766.302(2), was in place. The Bennetts then had the obligation to present sufficient evidence rebutting the presumption. They failed to present such evidence. Accordingly, the presumed fact that Tristan's injury was a birth-related neurological injury

remained intact. The Bennetts also failed to present competent substantial evidence that could support a finding that Tristan's birth-related neurological injury did not fit within section 766.302(2).

The Bennetts argued below that although they stipulated that Tristan had suffered an injury to the brain caused by oxygen deprivation, which rendered her permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired, they effectively rebutted the presumption of section 766.309(1)(a), with Tristan's medical records, which allegedly had no description of any neurological injury until after the events of October 3, 2001. In rejecting that argument, the First District correctly stated that the NICA Plan does not require that the neurological damage, i.e., injury to the brain or spinal cord, be manifest during "labor, delivery, or resuscitation in the immediate postdelivery period.

The First District is not in conflict with *Orlando Reg'l Healthcare Sys., Inc.*v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological, 997 So.2d 426 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008), in applying the phrase "immediate postdelivery period." The First District did not "rule" or hold that the Bennetts' claim, or any other claim, was NICA compensable merely because the "immediate postdelivery period" can include an extended period of days when a baby is delivered with a life threatening condition that requires close supervision. The First District merely cites to *Orlando Reg'l*,

in dicta, for the proposition that the phrase "immediate postdelivery period" has been construed to include an extended period of days under certain factual circum-stances.

ARGUMENT

Standard of review. In determining that Tristan's injury was not a "birth-related neurological injury," the ALJ concluded that the presumption contained in section 766.309(1)(a), was "for Petitioners benefit" only and not available to "aid other parties" like Dr. Long. Although this conclusion is drawn and explained in the Final Order's "Findings of Fact" section, it is a clearly a conclusion of law, drawn from the ALJ's interpretation of the applicable NICA statutory provisions.

The standard of review for an ALJ's interpretation of the NICA statutes is de novo. *See Alexander*, 909 So.2d at 586. An ALJ's order will be reversed by the appellate court when the ALJ's interpretation of the law is clearly erroneous. *See Schur v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n*, 832 So.2d 188, 191 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). The Florida Supreme Court reviews the district courts' interpretation of a statute de novo. *See Florida Birth-Related*Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Admin. Hearings, 29 So.3d 992 (Fla.

2010)(hereinafter "Bayfront").

An ALJ's findings of fact are reversible on appeal when they are not supported by competent substantial evidence in the record. *See Nagy v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Assoc.*, 813 So.2d 155 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); §120.68(10), Fla. Stat.; §120.68(1), Fla. Stat. (The appellate court shall "set aside agency action if it finds that the agency's action depends on any finding of fact that is not supported by competent substantial evidence in the record.").

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S HOLDING, REGARDING THE

APPLICATION OF THE PRESUMPTION OF COMPENSABILITY OF

SECTION 766.309(1)(a), WAS NOT ERROR AND IS NOT IN CONFLICT

WITH ANY PRINCIPLE OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION OR WITH

ANY OTHER DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL. In the First Decision of the compensability was clearly erroneous given the parties' stipulations and the findings of fact by the ALJ. That holding is not in conflict with any principle of statutory construction or with any other Florida court.

A. The First District followed the plain language of section 766.309(1)(a), and correctly held that the presumption of compensability should have been applied by the ALJ in light of the Bennetts' petition, the parties' stipulations, and the ALJ's findings.

In a NICA proceeding, the ALJ shall determine, based upon all available evidence, whether the injury claimed is a "birth-related neurological injury." *See* §766.309(1)(a), Fla. Stat. In making that determination:

If the claimant has demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the administrative law judge, that the infant has sustained a brain or spinal cord injury caused by oxygen deprivation or mechanical injury and that the infant was thereby rendered permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired, a rebuttable presumption shall arise that the injury is a birth-related neurological injury as defined in s. 766.302(2).

§766.309(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (Emphasis added).

In arguing that the First District "disregarded" the plain language of the presumption statute, the Bennetts "disregard" the fact that their petition to determine availability of NICA coverage asserted that: "By the time of her birth by cesarean section, Tristan Bennett ("Tristan") had suffered a hypoxic ischemic event that caused brain damage[,]" and that Tristan "then suffered further injury to her brain" in the first several days of her life after the resuscitive period. *R. 6*. Likewise, in Dr. Long's petition for leave to intervene, he asserted that the petition alleged that "on September 26, 2001, [Tristan] suffered a birth related neurological injury covered by NICA." *R. 18*. "[I]n every case, the 'issues in a cause are made

solely by the pleadings." *See Rickenbach v. Kosinski*, 32 So.3d 732, 735 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010)(Quoting *Hart Props., Inc. v. Slack*, 159 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1963)).

More importantly, the Bennetts also "disregard" the fact that, at hearing,

they stipulated with the other parties that Tristan "did suffer an injury to the brain

caused by oxygen deprivation that rendered [her] permanently and substantially, mentally and physically impaired." *T. 4-5; R. 833, 836, 841*. As evidenced by the "Findings of Fact" portion of the Final Order, the ALJ accepted the parties' stipulation, finding that it was "undisputed that Tristan suffered brain injury, caused by oxygen deprivation, which rendered her permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired." *R. 1072*. cord injury caused by oxygen deprivation . . . and that the infant was thereby rendered permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired"

Under these factual circumstances, the prerequisites of section 766.309(1)(a), were met and the presumption of compensability should have been applied by the ALJ.

Because the

In reversing the ALJ, the First District correctly held:

As noted, the parties stipulated that Tristan is permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired. Further, the ALJ found that the injury was a neurological one; that is, it involved the brain or the spinal cord. There was no dispute below concerning whether Tristan has sustained a neurological injury. Given the stipulation and the ALJ's findings of fact, we hold that the ALJ erred as a matter of law in not applying the presumption of compensability.

St. Vincent's, 27 So.2d at 70. The First District obviously found it significant that the parties had stipulated that Tristan was permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired and that Tristan had suffered a neurological injury due to oxygen deprivation. St. Vincent's, 27 So.2d at 69-70.

Florida law is well settled that stipulations properly entered into by the parties and relating to a matter upon which it is appropriate to stipulate are "binding upon the parties and upon the court." *Turner v. Miami-Dade County School Board*, 941 So.2d 508, 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006) (Quoting *Gunn Plumbing, Inc. v. Dania Bank*, 252 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1971)). A properly entered stipulation will relieve a party of an obligation to establish the matter and preclude the opposing party from establishing the contrary. *Id.* Stipulations narrowing the issues are of value to the legal system as they simplify issues, limit or shorten litigation, save costs to the parties, and preserve judicial economy and resources. *Rickenbach*, 32 So.3d at 735.

The stipulations that the Bennetts participated in, which the ALJ accepted, easily demonstrated that Tristan "sustained a brain . . . injury caused by oxygen deprivation . . . and that the infant was thereby rendered permanently and

⁵ At no time did the Bennetts seek to rescind, reform, void or set aside the

substantially mentally and physically impaired" *See* §766.309(1)(a), Fla. Stat. Thus, the application of the presumption in this case fit within the required plain reading of the statute.

In order to sidestep the obvious lack of conflict between the First District's opinion and other district courts "on the same question of law," the Bennetts assert that the analysis utilized by the First District in interpreting NICA's statutory scheme is in conflict with the plain language of the statute and with the analyses used in *Bayfront* and *Nagy*, because the First District accounted for legislative intent in construing the NICA Plan. The Bennetts' assertion is without merit.

First, the First District's analysis to which the Bennetts take issue, relates to their argument below that a NICA claimant can ignore or waive the presumption under section 766.309(1)(a). *See St. Vincent's*, 27 So.2d at 70-71. That analysis did not involve the decision to apply the presumption under the pleadings, stipulations, and facts of this case. As shown *supra*, there was no elaborate statutory analysis used by the First District on that question. The court simply applied the plain language of section 766.309(1)(a), to the stipulated facts and the findings of fact by the ALJ.

Second, the Bennetts characterize the analysis at issue as that serving the

Legislature's "presumed intent," rather than the plain language of the statute.

Init. Brief at 13. The First District did not "presume" any intent. Indeed, the legislative intent cited by the First District, is taken directly from the "findings and intent" of the NICA Plan. See §766.301, Fla. Stat. It is rather contrived to argue that the First District "presumed" the intent of the legislature when the court cited to the very statute the legislature passed establishing the intent of the legislation.

Third, the First District's analysis is not "misguided" but is actually consistent with the analyses used in both the *Bayfront* and *Nagy*. The First District and the cases cited by the Bennetts, adhere to the principle that when interpreting and construing statutes, courts are guided by the plain language of the statute **along with** a consideration of the legislature's expressed intent. As this Court stated in *Bayfront*, "If the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, the legislative intent must be derived from the words used without involving rules of construction or speculating as to what the legislature intended." 29 So.3d at 997. In *Nagy*, the Fourth District stated, "In interpreting the [NICA] Plan, this court is guided by the plain language of its statutes and the Legislature's expressed intent." 813 So.2d at 159-160.

Indeed, this view of statutory construction is nothing new to this case or to

other cases interpreting the NICA plan. In *Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n v. Florida Div. of Admin. Hearings*, 686 So.2d 1349, 1354 (Fla. 1997)(hereinafter "*Birnie*"), this Court stated:

Where, as here, the legislature has not defined the words used in a phrase, the language should usually be given its plain and ordinary meaning. Nevertheless, consideration must be accorded not only to the literal and usual meaning of the words, but also to their meaning and effect on the objectives and purposes of the statute's enactment. Indeed, "[i]t is a fundamental rule of statutory construction that legislative intent is the polestar by which the court must be guided [in construing enactments of the legislature]." (Internal citations omitted).

See also Fluet v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n, 788

So.2d 1010 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001). In light of the well settled analysis cited to and used in *Bayfront* and *Nagy*, one would be hard-pressed to label the First District's analysis "misguided" as the Bennetts do.

Finally, the sentence Petitioners take issue with in the First District's opinion, i.e., "[T]he ultimate goal in construing a statutory provision is to give effect to the legislative intent[,]" actually appeared in the ALJ's order. *See R.* 1075. Not surprising, Petitioners had no problem with the statement on appeal below when they were the prevailing parties.

This Court has frequently reversed course on granting jurisdiction after briefing on the merits has revealed that conflict jurisdiction has been improvidently granted. *See e.g., State v. Wightman,* 14 So.3d 211 (Fla. 2009); *Healthcare and Retirement Corp. of America Inc. v. Bradley,* 997 So.2d 400 (Fla. 2008); *Florida Dept. of Children and Families v. H.D.,* 985 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 2008); *State v. Moninger,* 982 So.2d 682 (Fla. 2008); *Elwell v. State,* 979 So.2d 956 (Fla. 2008); *Luton v. State,* 974 So.2d 384 (Fla. 2008). This is one such case where jurisdiction has been improvidently granted. Accordingly, the Court should discharge jurisdiction and dismiss this appeal.

B. The First District properly applied the plain language of section 766.309(1)(a), and rejected the Bennetts' argument that a petitioner can ignore or waive a presumption where the evidence before the ALJ demonstrates the required statutory injury.

The Bennetts argue that the First District ignored the so-called operative language of section 766.309(1)(a), i.e., the conditional clause, "If the claimant has demonstrated. . . ." The First District did not ignore the statute's operative language, rather, the court properly relied on and followed it.

"Demonstrate" means: "1. To prove or make evident by reasoning or adducing evidence. 2. To describe or illustrate by experiment or practical application. . . . 3. To show or reveal. . . . " *The American Heritage Dictionary*,

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